IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ARMANDO CARD, SR.,

Appellant,

CASE NUMBER: SC 00-182

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM SENTENCE OF DEATH, CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE 14TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 81-518

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARCIA AND SELIGER STEVEN L. SELIGER Florida Bar Number 244597 16 North Adams Street Quincy, Florida 32351 (850) 875-4668

<u>x</u> <u>Statement of the Case</u>

(i) Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a Bay County circuit court order imposing a death sentence on Mr. Card for the first-degree murder of Janice Franklin. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(a)(i), Fl. R. App. Pr.

(ii) Course of proceedings and disposition in the lower tribunal

A Bay County grand jury indicted Mr. Card for the first-degree murder, robbery and kidnapping of Janice Franklin in 1981. Mr. Card pled not guilty. After a jury trial, Mr. Card was found guilty as charged on each count. (The trial had been moved to Okaloosa County). At the completion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended by a vote of 7-5 that Mr. Card be put to death for the murder. On January 28, 1982, the trial court imposed a death sentence on the first-degree murder conviction. The judge sentenced Mr. Card to consecutive life prison terms on the robbery and kidnapping convictions. On direct appeal, the Court affirmed the convictions and death sentence. <u>Card v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1984)

(a) First round of post-conviction proceedings

On June 3, 1986, Mr. Card filed his first post-conviction motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fl. R. Cr. P. The trial court denied the motion. This Court affirmed the denial and denied an independent state habeas petition. <u>Card v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1986).

Mr. Card filed a federal habeas petition in the U. S. District Court for the Northern District of Florida. This petition was denied. On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed in part and remanded to the district court for further proceedings. <u>Card v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 911 F. 2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1990) The district judge again denied relief, and the Eleventh Circuit affirmed. <u>Card v. Singletary</u>, 963 F. 2d 1440 (11th Cir. 1992) The U. S. Supreme Court denied review. 114 S. Ct. 121 (1993)

(b) Second round of post-conviction proceedings.

Mr. Card filed a second post-conviction motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fl. R. Cr. P. on March 9, 1992. The trial court denied the motion. On appeal, this Court affirmed in part and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Card v. State</u>, 652 So. 2d

344 (Fla. 1995) The trial court held an evidentiary hearing and ordered that Mr. Card's sentence of death be vacated and that a new sentencing hearing be held. (R8-1367) Ultimately, the trial judge decided that the sentencing hearing would include a new jury. (R10-1724)

(c) <u>Resentencing Trial</u>.

This new sentencing proceeding resulted in a jury vote of 11-1 recommending death. (R11-2005) A new trial motion filed by the defense (R11-2012) and later supplemented (R11-2037) was denied. (R12-2247) The trial court then imposed a sentence of death.(R12-2248) From this final judgment, Mr. Card filed a timely notice of appeal. (R12-2277)

(iii) <u>Statement of the Facts</u>

(a) <u>State Case</u>

In June of 1981, Ed Franklin ran a refrigeration and air conditioning business from the back of the Western Union office at 32 Oak Avenue in Panama City. (R28-79, 33) The Western Union business was out front and Franklin's wife, Janice, ran the counter service for Western Union. (R28-80) She also helped her husband by answering the phone for his business. They had been at that location for 10 years. (R28-80) Janice Franklin was 41 years old. (R28-97)

Shortly before 3:00 p.m. on June 3rd, Mrs. Franklin spoke to her daughter

Cindy. They both were getting ready to watch General Hospital and Cindy expected to talk with her mother after the program was over. (R28-93) When Cindy called, her mother did not answer. (R28-93) About that time, two Panama City police officers were dispatched to the Western Union office. (R28-33) One officer, George Dobos, got there at 3:14 p.m., and did not see anyone. (R28-34) The front door was not locked so he secured the building. (R28-38, 34)

Inside the office, Dobos saw a lot of blood on the floor and furniture and the furniture was in a state of disarray. (R28-34) The teletype machine was on and a timeclock was overturned. (R28-42, 43) The safe located behind the counter was open and the cash drawer was removed from its slot and lay broken on the floor. (R28-35) The Franklins kept the money in the cash drawer, not the safe. (R28-87) There was no currency in the drawer. (R28-41) Later it was determined that \$1,197.00 was missing. (R28-49) There was blood on the floor and on some of the items behind the counter. (R28-35) The television set above the safe was on. (R28-40) The back door was locked and bolted; Dobos concluded that no one had left that way. (R28-35) There was a set of footprints made in blood leading toward the front door. (R28-41)

The police determined that Janice Franklin was missing from the store. (R28-47) Her car was still in the parking lot across the street. (R28-47) Franklin's purse was hanging from a shelf inside the store but her wallet was missing. (R28-42) Franklin's husband confirmed that his wife kept a wallet in her purse. (R28-88)

Also inside the Western Union office was an Easter card tacked on the wall; the card was signed by James Car. (R28-55) Janice and Cindy Franklin knew Card from his doing business at the Western Union. Cindy's mother told her that Card was the person who had sent her the Easter card that was posted on the wall. (R28-94)

Mrs. Franklin's body was found the next day (June 4th) at about 4:00 p.m. by an officer employed by the Game and Freshwater Fish Commission. (R28-49) She was not wearing any shoes and there was a bloody white cloth or napkin draped over her arm. (R28-49) She was not wearing a blouse but was wearing a bra. (R28-60) The body was found on a dirt road off Back Beach Road, about 8.5 miles from the Western Union building. The area was heavily wooded and had a single dirt road. There were no houses in that area. To get there from the Western Union, one would travel west on Highway 98, across the Hathaway Bridge and then drive on Back Beach Road for 2.2 miles to the dirt road. The body was about 1/4 mile off Back Beach Road. (R28-51)

Dr. Edmund Kielmon, the deputy medical examiner for the First Judicial Circuit, had died before the resentencing trial. (R28-66) His testimony from the prior trial was read to the jury. (R28-66) Dr. Kielmon did an autopsy on June 5th. (R28-71) A visual examination of the body revealed a very deep cut on the front of the throat that was maggot infested. (R28-72) Mrs. Franklin was wearing a bra and blue pants and had rings on her left hand. (R28-72)

The throat wound was inflicted in a horizontal position from her right to left by a very sharp instrument. This would suggest the killer was left handed. The wound was 6-7 inches in length, 2 ¹/₂ inches deep. (R28-74, 75) The doctor opined that cutting was done by a person behind Mrs. Franklin. (R28-77) There were three slash marks on the fingers of her right hand and there appeared to be something like a stab wound on the back of this hand. (R28-76) One finger was almost severed. (R28-61) Her left hand also had cuts on the fingers. (R28-62, 76) The wounds to her hands looked like classic defense wounds, incurred while Mrs. Franklin was trying to protect herself from an attack with a knife. (R28-77) Mrs. Franklin also had a severe bruise on the back of her neck. (R28-78)

In June of 1981, Vicky Elrod lived in Pensacola. (R29-4) She was 28 years old and a friend of James Card. (R29-5, 17) She met him as a man named Mike Johnson about a year before. (R29-6) On June 3, 1981 Card called her at her home early in the morning. (R29-6) At the time, Card was living with his wife and three children. (R29-6) Card called her from Panama City to tell her he was coming to Pensacola to talk with her. She had loaned him a small amount of money in the past for gas and he told her he was going to pay her back. When she asked him not to come, Card told her he would speak to her later. (R29-7)

At about 5:30 p.m., Card called her back. He told her he was coming to Pensacola and that it was very important that he talk with her. He told her he might be leaving Panama City. Again, Elrod told Card not to come. (R29-8) Later that night, Elrod got still another call from Card. Card said he had come to Pensacola and was staying at the Days Inn Motel. (R29-9) Card told her he would come to her house or she could meet him at the motel. She agreed to meet with him at the motel. It was now about 10:00 p.m. (R29-9)

At the motel, Card paid her the money he owed her. He took the money out of a blue pouch that had \$100 and \$20 bills. When she jokingly asked him if he had robbed a 7-11 store, he told her no, he had done something much more serious. (R29-10) Card told her he had robbed a Western Union store and killed the woman clerk with a knife. (R29-10) Card said the robbery happened about 3:00 p.m. (R29-10) Card said that he went into the Western Union armed with a Bowie knife in his pants and wearing rubber gloves. (R29-11) When he first went into the store, there was someone else present so he told the clerk he would come back later. (R29-11) When Card went back the second time, he went to the safe where he fought with the clerk. He then pulled a knife on her and told her to go outside. (R29-11) Card said he cut the clerk with his knife and tore her blouse. He got about \$1,000; (R29-12) Card told Elrod the money came from the safe. (R29-16)

Card took the woman at knifepoint about five or six miles away to a wooded area. (R29-13) When they got there, Card asked the woman to get out of the car, telling her he was not going to hurt her. As she was walking away, Card snuck up behind her, grabbed her by the hair, pulled her neck back and cut her throat. (R29-13) After he cut her throat, using his right hand, he told her to "die, die, die." (R29-13, 16) Card told Elrod that this was the first time he killed for money and he enjoyed it. (R29-14) He then cleaned up the knife and tossed it where no one could find it. (R29-14) Card said he knew the woman that he killed and that he and his wife had sent her an Easter card. The card was on the bulletin board inside the Western Union. (R29-14)

Card was arrested five days after Mrs. Franklin was reported missing June 3^{d} . (R28-51) While there was blood found in Card's car, the blood type did not match Mrs. Franklin's. (R28-63)

(b) <u>Defense Case</u>

James Card was the son of Gloria and Frank Card. (R29-27) His mother (now is Chenoweth) was born from Italian parents who came to this country in 1916. (R29-22, 23) The family stock was hardworking and religious, believing in the Catholic faith. (R29-23) In 1941, Gloria married Frank and divorced him five years later. She had two children with Frank (Sandra and John) and was pregnant with James at the time of the separation and subsequent divorce. (R29-27) Frank Card always denied that James was his son (R29-54) and never had any contact with his children until they were teenagers. (R29-53)

A year after the divorce from Frank Card, Gloria married Darrell Scripter. (R29-30) Gloria had three additional children with Scripter. (R29-33) These were difficult times for the family; Scripter was cruel to the children. He clearly favored his own children and refused to be a father to Frank's children. (R29-37) He physically abused his wife and the kids. Scripter would physically abuse her in the children's presence. (R31-15) One time, Scripter threw a glass at her and hit her in the face. One of the children got a gun to shoot Scripter but another child intervened. (R29-36) In addition, he refused to contribute economically to the family. (R29-30) This meant Gloria had to work all of the time, often holding two jobs. She did not get to spend much time with her children. (R29-32)

James' older brother was John Card. (R31-5) Scripter was the adult male around as he and James grew up. John described Scripter as an evil man. (R31-6) Three examples were given to illustrate the point. James was diagnosed with a disease that was caused by drinking too much milk that affected his knees and ability to walk. (R29-37) The doctor advised James not to do any walking. Knowing this, Scripter left James and his mother at the doctor's office and they had to walk 15 miles to get home. Once there, Scripter made James get down on his knees and dig a hole with a teaspoon. The doctor had also cautioned James about kneeling. (R29-38)

James loved animals very much. (R29-42) He was given a pet calf and he grew very attached to it. One day, Scripter shot and killed the calf and made James watch. (R31-20) The children thought Scripter was going to shoot them next. (R31-20) James was devastated when his animal got killed. (R29-34)

To teach James how to swim, Scripter simply threw James into a fast flowing river. James almost drowned as a result. (R31-24)

James and John were the objects of physical beatings on a daily basis; sometimes Scripter would use his fist, sometimes an open hand. Scripter's weapon of choice, however, was a leather belt with a brass hook buckle. Oftentimes Scripter's blows would be aimed at the children's heads. (R31-7-8) James would try to protect his older brother from the beatings by talking to Scripter, but Scripter responded by focusing his wrath on James. (R31-8) It got so bad at one point that John asked James to shoot Scripter, but James would not do it. (R31-9) These beatings were not for disciplinary purposes; the children sincerely believed that Scripter would kill them by beating them to death. (R31-9) The kids tried to tell people about their precarious situation but no one would listen. (R31-9)

With Scripter, the family first lived in a dangerous tenement project. (R31-11)

John took it upon himself to set a fire and burn their house up. (R31-12) The family then lived in a motel on skid row in Eureka, California until their grandmother paid for them to move into a real house. (R31-11) James was 4-5 years old. There was often not enough food for everyone and food was primarily supplied by the grandmother. (R31-12) John admitted that he would steal food to help feed the family. (R31-13) Any money Scripter got would be used for his own benefit to gamble, drink and pay for women. (R31-15) In large measure the kids were forced to take care of each other (R31-17) because their mother could not.

Sometimes the children could not go to school because they did not have clothes. When James got some new clothes from his grandmother, Scripter responded by beating him. Scripter had a particular dislike for James. (R31-19)

After years of marriage, Gloria divorced Scripter. (R29-39) She was a single parent for about two years and then married Dick Taylor. (R29-39) Unlike Scripter, Taylor was good to her and the children. (R29-39)(R31-16) James was in a car accident with Mr. Taylor and suffered a head injury. (R29-41) It was not the only one he had; he also fell off a tree on his head and knocked unconscious. (R31-20) After a short marriage, Dick Taylor died abruptly. (R31-16; R29-40) The children were uniformly upset because Taylor had been a real father to them. (R31-16; R29-40-41) After Taylor died, Gloria remarried Scripter. (R29-41) Not surprisingly, the children were very unhappy. After a brief respite from violence, Scripter started it all over again. (R31-16)

In October of 1975, James married Linda Graybill. (R30-32) She met James through his mother and she instantly fell in love with him. (R30-32) Linda could tell that James and his mother were close and loved each other very much. (R30-32) By the time of the marriage, James' real father was back. Frank denied that James was his child, saying that Gloria had been sleeping with someone else at the time she became pregnant with James. (R30-22) Frank also denigrated James in front of her and their child. (R30-32) James very much wanted his father to be proud of him but Frank either ignored him or told James how great John was but that James was nothing. (R30-32)

Linda thought the relationship between James and his father had a profound impact on James. It explained why James had a difficult time with self-esteem and why James so wanted to impress others that he would make up stories. (R30-33, 34) One exaggeration involved James claiming he served during the Vietnam War. This was not true. (R31-22) He did serve in the Arizona National Guard and was honorably discharged from that unit. (R29-43) Another time, her parents had loaned them some money to fix their car. James took the money and lost it gambling; Linda then left him. She then got a phone call from the hospital telling her that James had been shot by someone else. Apparently after an investigation, the police concluded that James had shot himself. (R30-34-35)

James worked hard as a truck driver to earn a living but was not very successful. (R30-36) When he thought Linda was seeing another man, he cut himself with a knife and ended up in the psychiatric ward of the Veterans Administration hospital. (R30-37) James could not handle rejection. (R30-35) After an incident with their child, Linda felt she had to divorce him. She did think that like everyone but his mother, she had given up on James. (R30-39) Linda's brother Robert Graybill enjoyed being with James. In his presence, James was hyper and had a high energy level. (R30-7) James could make Robert laugh and they enjoyed common pursuits, such as music. (R30-6) Robert could tell that James truly loved his sister. (R30-7) James was very unhappy. (R30-8) Robert also picked up on James' need to have people think he was important; that he mattered. (R30-10)

Neither Linda or Robert nor Linda and James' daughter had seen James since 1978. (R30-41); (R30-5) The daughter, Dawn Castro, was now an adult. (R30-44) She had no memory of her father but had been looking for him for sometime. She found him two months before the trial and she wants to establish and maintain that connection. (R30-45) Linda wanted her daughter to know her father. (R30-42) Dennis Cunningham had known James for over 30 years as a good friend. (R30-47-48) In July of 1972, Cunningham and his wife and two children were on vacation when a car accident claimed the life of his wife, Twila. Cunningham felt like his life was over. (R30-49) During the next couple of years, James supported Cunningham emotionally as well as helping with the chores and kids. Cunningham believed that he owed James a great debt and he wanted to convey from this experience what kind of man James Card was and could be. (R30-50)

Lisa Fischer was James' niece; James is her uncle. (R30-52) Growing up, James doted on her; they were very close. She had fond memories of their times together. (R30-53) After her mother was killed in the accident, James would keep in touch with her and name it a point to stop in and see her whenever he was driving his truck. (R30-54) Lisa was proud of the present relationship she had with her uncle and he encouraged her with her education and life goals. (R30-57) Lisa described James as a compassionate man. (R30-58) James' oldest sister Sandra, who was Lisa's mother, was killed by a drunk driver in 1973. (R30-52-53) Sandra's death devestated James. (R30-56)

After James was arrested and convicted of the murder of Janice Franklin, he was sentenced to prison. In 1984, he got his GED. (R29-52) James also began both physical and letter contact with Catholic Church clergy. Father Joe Maniangat met

James at Florida State Prison in December 1983 through his prison ministry. (R29-5) Since that time, he has met with him on a regular basis. (R29-5) James participates in religious ceremonies and is a beautiful artist. (R29-7) Father Maniangat knew that James got along well with other prisoners. (R29-7) He thought James was a man of deep faith and commitment in his relationship with God. (R29-9) The Father believed James could function well in a prison setting. (R29-11)

William Treney is the director of Catholic Charities Bureau for the Diocese of St. Augustine. (R30-11) This diocese includes Florida State Prison. (R30-12) More than 12 years ago, James began writing and Tierney reciprocated. (R30-13) Based on this contact, Tierney thought that James had deep religious convictions and was a spiritual person. (R30-16) Over time, Tierney had noticed an improvement in James' quality of thought. (R30-15) He thought that James could make a contribution to other prisoners if he were allowed to live. (R30-17)

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