IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES ARMANDO CARD,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC00-182

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT BAY COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3580 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

the victim attempted to fend off further blows. The <u>Roberts</u> Court noted that evidence of such defensive wounds has been held sufficient to support a finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.⁵

Here, as in <u>Beasley</u> and the cases cited in <u>Beasley</u>, the victim's defensive wounds establish that the events leading up to the otherwise quick murder were heinous, atrocious and cruel. This the victim also "suffered pain and horrific emotional trauma". The trial court relied on the extensive defensive wounds to the victim's hands and the eight miles drive in that condition to establish this aggravator. Both the victim's fingers being cut and the drive in that condition undoubtedly occurred while the victim was conscious. Furthermore, here, as in <u>Roberts</u>, a finding that the victim was not aware of his or her impending death does not prevent the murder from being heinous, atrocious and cruel.

Additionally to the severe damage to her hands, the victim was driven in this condition to a remote location. In <u>Preston v. State</u> 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992), this Court found the murder to be especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Preston robbed a convenience store. He then forced the night clerk to drive to remote location, made her walk at knifepoint through dark field

⁵ Roberts cites <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 1019 (Fla.1986)(finding that murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel was supported by evidence that victim was brutally beaten while attempting to fend off blows to the head, before he was fatally shot) and <u>Heiney v. State</u>, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984) (murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel where victim received defensive wounds to hands while trying to fend off seven severe hammer blows to the head).

and forced her to disrobe. Preston then repeatedly stabbed her. The wounds to her neck resulted in her near decapitation. This Court found that the clerk suffered great fear during events leading up to her murder. <u>Preston</u>, 607 So.2d at 409. Fear and emotional strain may be considered even where the victim's death is almost instantaneous. <u>Preston</u>, 607 So.2d at 410.

Here, as in <u>Preston</u>, the victim suffered fear and emotional strain during the drive. This victim had to be suffering from the emotional strain of wondering if she would ever be able to use her hand again. Additionally, here, the victim suffered physical trauma from the wounds to her hands during the drive. She was also being driven away from any possible medical care which would have added anxiety to her physical pain.

Contrary to appellant's claim, the trial court did not rely on speculation to establish this aggravator. IB at 69. Rather, the trial court relied on common sense, just as this court explicitly did in

Beasley. It is simple common sense that a victim who has had her finger on her right hand nearly severed and has numerous other cuts on her left hand would be in significant pain and suffering from trauma.

Appellant's reliance on Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991), is misplaced. In that case, this Court found the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is inapplicable where the evidence indicated that the defendant and his accomplice had assured the victim that they planned to release her and did not intend to kill her. Here, as in Robinson, the defendant told

the victim that he just wanted the money and that he was not going to hurt her. However, Robinson is distinguishable. While the victim in Robinson was sexually assaulted, she was otherwise was not harmed. A victim who has not been repeatedly stabbed by the perpetrator is at least somewhat likely to believe the statement that she will not be hurt and therefore, not suffer the terror of thinking she is going to die. However, a victim who has already been mutilated by the perpetrator has no such reassurance. He has every intention to hurt her and has already done so. A victim in this situation simply does not believe the statement that she will not be hurt. Card's statement that she would not be hurt was likely taken for the lie it was by this Moreover, even if the victim believed Card that she victim. would not be further harmed, the pain and trauma of having her fingers severed distinguishes this case from Robinson. the evidence supports and the trial court properly found the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravator.

PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR

Appellant argues that it is inconsistent to apply both the avoid arrest aggravator which requires that the sole or dominant motive for the murder be this aggravator and the pecuniary gain aggravator which also requires that the sole or dominant motive for the murder be this other aggravator. Basically, appellant is asserting that a murder cannot have two sole motives. However, appellant's argument ignores the "or dominant" modifier. Moreover, this Court has previously rejected this

claim. Thompson v. State, 648 So.2d 692, 695 (Fla. 1994)(rejecting argument that the pecuniary gain aggravator is inconsistent with the avoid arrest aggravator). Thus, the evidence supports and the trial court properly found the pecuniary gain aggravator.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

First, improper application of the law of the case doctrine at resentencing is subject to harmless error analysis and is harmless where the trial court basically is correct in its ruling. United States v. Crouse, 145 F.3d 786, 788 (6th Cir. 1998) (noting that the law of the case doctrine does not directly apply to resentencing; however, the district court's error in applying the doctrine was harmless because the court was basically correct in its underlying ruling). Here, the trial court was correct in its underlying ruling, i.e. that the jury should be instructed on the cold, calculated and premeditated, heinous, atrocious and cruel and pecuniary aggravator. Thus, the trial court's error in applying the law of the case doctrine was necessarily harmless.

Contrary to appellant's claim, this Court has repeatedly held that the trial court's improper consideration of an unsupported aggravator can be harmless error. Appellant seems to argue that any time there is any mitigation, any error in finding aggravators cannot be harmless. This Court has explained that a reversal of a death sentence is required only if this Court cannot find the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. If

there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the sentence, the Court should affirm the death sentence.

In Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 20 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that while the trial court erroneous found the avoid arrest aggravator, the error was harmless because several other aggravating factors supported the imposition of the death penalty. Without the invalid avoid arrest aggravator, there were still four other valid aggravators: prior violent felonies; pecuniary gain; heinous, atrocious, and cruel and cold, calculated, and premeditated. Because four valid aggravators existed, there was no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the sentence. Here, the trial court found five aggravators. Appellant does not challenge the validity of the murder was committed during a kidnapping aggravator. Even if this Court finds one of the four challenged aggravators invalid, here, as in Zack, four valid aggravators remain. There is no reasonable possibility that the error in any one of the four challenged aggravators contributed to the sentence. Thus, any error in finding any one of the four aggravators is harmless.

Appellant argues that the error in giving these "extra aggravating" jury instructions that were not "legally applicable" is not harmless because the jury would not know that they were inapplicable. IB at 72. Appellant's reliance on Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 537-39, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2122, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992), as support for this argument is misplaced. As this Court observed in Banks v. State, 700 So.2d

363, 369 (Fla. 1997), when discussing <u>Sochor</u>, <u>Sochor</u> stands for the proposition that while a jury is likely to disregard an aggravating factor upon which it has been properly instructed but which is unsupported by the evidence, juries are unlikely to be able to identify flawed theories of law as reflected in incorrect jury instructions.

Sochor argued that a jury instruction was "invalid" by which he meant, as the United States Supreme Court explained, that it was unsupported by the evidence. Card asserts likewise, only he uses the term "legally inapplicable" rather than Sochor's term "invalid". Using either term, the argument is that the evidence did not support giving the jury instruction. The argument is not that the jury instruction on these aggravators are incorrect statements of the law, i.e. legally flawed. Rather, appellant's argument is that there is not sufficient evidence or facts to support these aggravators. But this is exactly what juries do juries decide whether the evidence supports a conclusion, i.e. either guilt or the appropriate penalty. So, while juries cannot be expected to spot a flawed theory in the law in connection with the jury instruction, juries are quite capable of deciding that there is not sufficient evidence. contrary to appellant's position, if the jury is instructed on "legally inapplicable" aggravators, i.e. aggravators which the evidence does not support, the jury will simple not find that aggravator. Therefore, far from being inherently harmful as appellant claims, when juries are instructed on aggravator that are not supported by the evidence, the jury itself will cure the

problem by not finding that aggravator. Thus, giving jury instructions on aggravators not supported by the evidence is per se harmless.

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EVALUATE THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE AND PROPERLY WEIGH THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE? (Restated)

Appellant argues the trial court failed to consider certain mitigating factors and did not explain its weighting process. The State respectfully disagrees. First, this issue is not preserved because appellant did not inform the trial court that it overlooked any mitigating factor or the sentencing order did not sufficiently explain its weighing process. Moreover, appellant's basic argument is that the trial court failed to follow the dictates of Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). However, <u>Campbell</u> has recently been clarified by this Court. A trial court is free now to assign no weight to an established mitigator. Additionally, the trial court here considered the proposed mitigators, it simply considered those mitigators that related to the same basic subject together. Furthermore, by not sufficiently explaining its weighting process, appellant seems to be complaining about the trial court's use of words such as "some" "slight" and "little" However, these are common, readily understood and frequently used words. Thus, the trial court properly evaluated and properly weighed the mitigating evidence.

The trial court's ruling

The trial court found no statutory mitigation. (XII 2251). the trial court found seven non-statutory mitigators: (1) The defendant's upbringing was "harsh and brutal" and his family background included a brutal step-father which the trial court accorded some weight; (2) The defendant has a good prison record which the trial court accorded slight weight; (3) The defendant is a practicing Catholic and made efforts for other inmates to obtain religious services which the trial court accorded some weight; (4) The defendant was abused as a child which was considered previously which the trial court accorded some weight; (5) The defendant served in the Army National Guard and received an honorable discharge which the trial court accorded some weight; (6) The defendant has artistic ability which the trial court accorded little weight; (7) The defendant as corresponded with school children to deter them from being involved in crime which the trial court accorded some weight. (XII 2251-2252). The trial court found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances imposed death. (XII 2253).

Preservation

This issue is not preserved. While appellant filed a motion to correct sentencing error he did not assert to the trial court that it overlooked any mitigating factors or that its sentencing order did not explain its weighing process. (XII 2259-2262). Many of the "proposed" mitigating factors that appellant argues

were not considered by the trial court were not proposed as mitigators in the trial court. Most of the "proposed" mitigator were not proposed to the trial court as independent mitigators; rather, they were argued as facts or evidence that supported other mitigators. For example, appellant argues that the trial court failed to consider the fact that he obtained his GED while in prison; however, Card's obtaining a GED was presented as to the trial court as evidence of Card's adjustment to prison and that he needed the "structure . . . protection and the stability" of prison to improve himself. (XXXI 139-140). Appellant asserts that the trial court did not address Card's poor performance in school. However, appellant mentioned Card's failing the first and second grades, not being a successful student and never attending school to establish the "chaos" and lack of stability in Card's family life as a child. (XXXI 132-The trial court considered the defendant's family background as mitigating.

Appellant's main complaint is that the trial court failed to consider Dr. Haley's testimony regarding the consequences of Card's childhood. However, the expert testimony of Dr. Haley was presented to the trial court as evidence to support Card's family background mitigator and Card's adjustment to prison mitigator, both of which the trial court found and weighed. Indeed, the trial court considered the defendant's family background and his abuse as a child as separate mitigators and gave both some weight. Trial courts cannot be expected to read defense counsels' minds as to which mitigators are presented as

independent mitigators and which are facts used to support other mitigators. Most of the "proposed" mitigators were presented to the trial court as supporting facts for other mitigators, not as free standing mitigators. Thus, this issue is not preserved.

The only claimed "proposed" mitigator that was even arguably presented as an independent mitigator that the trial court did not consider was Card's criminal record which was significant but did not involve violent crimes. (XXVI 3001). However, Card did not object in his motion to correct the sentence to the trial court's failure to consider this non-statutory mitigator. Lucas v. State, 613 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1992)(rejecting claim that trial court disregarded three possible mitigators because defendant did not list them in his memorandum). He does not specifically identify this or any other any other mitigator in his motion. Rather, the motion states: "failure to identify each and every mitigating circumstances raised by the defendant in the sentencing order". This is boilerplate language that preserves nothing. Woods v. State, 733 So.2d 980, 984(Fla. 1999) (noting that a boilerplate motion for acquittal that does not set forth the specific grounds does not preserve issue). Once again, defense counsel expects the trial court to be able to read his mind. Hence, Card's significant but non-violent criminal history is not preserved either. Thus, this entire issue is not preserved.

The standard of review

The weight assigned to a mitigating circumstance or an aggravating circumstance is within the trial court's discretion and subject to the abuse of discretion standard. Cave v. State, 727 So.2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998). To reverse the trial court's ruling, this Court must conclude that no reasonable person would assign that particular weight to the mitigator or While a capital sentencer is constitutionally aggravator. required to consider any mitigating evidence, it is not required to find that the mitigator exists. Additionally, while a mitigating factor need only be proven by a preponderance of the evidence, the standard of proof is a concern of the fact finder, not this court. Knight v. State, 746 So.2d 423, 436 (Fla. 1998) (noting that it is within the power of the trial court to determine whether mitigating circumstances have been established by a preponderance of the evidence). Standards of proof are trial court matters, appellate courts are concerned with the standard of review. Appellate courts are not fact finders; rather, this Court affirms the trial court's fact finding regarding mitigation if there is competent, substantial evidence to sustain those findings.

Merits

In <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415, 420 (Fla.1990), this Court outlined the duty of the sentencing court in evaluating the mitigating circumstances:

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